Od 7 1 to be Amend

In The Supreme Court of Florida

CASE NO, 87,403

The School Board of Volusia County,

Petitioner,

٧.

James B. Clayton,

Respondent,



CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clark

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT ON CERTIFIED QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER
THE SCHOOL BOARD OF VOLUSIA COUNTY

C. ALLEN WATTS of

COBB COLE & BELL
Post Office Box 2491
150 Magnolia Avenue
Daytona Beach, FL 32 115-249 1

(904) 255-8171

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an appeal from a decision of the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, certifying a question of great public importance, Although jurisdictional briefs are not required, the decision of the District Court also expressly affects a class of constitutional officers, and is expressly acknowledged to be in conflict with prior decisions of this Court and of other District Courts.

The School Board of Volusia County (hereafter "Board") suffers from overcrowded schools in southwestern Volusia County. Numerous sites had been considered for proposed "Elementary School S" over a period of several years (Appendix -Tab 1). The Board ordered appraisals of the most desirable site, disclosed them to the owners, and offered an option contract, but the owners did not respond (Appendix -2). In June 1994, the Board resolved to commence eminent domain proceedings. After final revisions to the site description were approved in August, the Board in September 1994 filed suit to condemn "Site S" (Appendix -3).

The condemnation was vigorously opposed by the condemnee, including assertion of substantial severance and business damages and a motion (later withdrawn) for disqualification of the Board's attorneys, As a result of mediation, the condemnee and the Board's representatives revised the "footprint" of the school and developed other conditions to mitigate the condemnee's alleged severance and business damages A further round of mediation then produced agreement on damages, attorneys' fees and costs, conditioned on Board approval.

On December 7, 1994, staff recommended to the Superintendent and Board that the settlement be approved (Appendix • 5). Counsel also recapped the legal position of the Board, including

1

particularly the owner's claims of severance and business damages, and the divergence of views of the appraisers (Appendix - 6). On December 13, 1994, in regular session, the Board approved the recommended settlement by a 3-2 vote. The parties thereupon submitted a stipulated Order of Taking and Final Judgment, which was ultimately entered by the trial court in February 1995, (Appendix - 8) after its judgment in this cause. Pursuant to the Board's ratification of the settlement, the Final Judgment recited that the legal description being taken was deemed amended to reflect the revised footprint. No appeal was taken. The Board has paid into the court registry the sum required by the Final Judgment, has taken possession and has awarded a construction contract. The condemnee is not a party here. The school is nearing completion.

James B. Clayton, respondent here (hereafter "Clayton"), sued for a writ of mandamus, In his amended petition, he alleged that he had standing "to represent all persons in his situation as a voter and taxpayer" (Appendix - 9 ¶7). He sought an order "directing the Board to rescind as void its action taken December 13, 1994 exercising the option to purchase Site S". He asserted that under Fla. Stat. 235.054, a supermajority of the Board was required to approve a "purchase" at more than the average of two appraisals.

The trial court issued the alternative writ, After final hearing, the trial court quashed the writ and dismissed the complaint with prejudice (Appendix - 11). The trial court found Clayton to be without standing under the current standards of this Court. It further found that Fla. Stat. 235.054 did not apply to eminent domain actions. Finally, the court found his suggestions of "claimed defects in the eminent domain proceedings . . . unsubstantiated and not supported by the record."

Clayton appealed the first two points. The Board filed a motion to dismiss, pointing out that the judgment in the eminent domain case had not been timely appealed, and that the condemnee was indispensable to any collateral attack on the condemnation judgment (Appendix - 12). The District Court denied the motion, and ultimately entered its decision now reviewed here. (Appendix - 13).

The majority of the District Court found that, notwithstanding **North Broward Hospital District** v. **Forms**, 476 So.2d 154 (Fla. 1985) Clayton had standing, and "respectfully request[ed] that [this Court] reconsider the *Fornes* decision." It then construed **Forms** not to be controlling, and certified the following questions as being of great public importance:

DOES THE "UNIQUENESS OF THE PARTICULAR CASE" STANDARD PERMIT A TAXPAYER CHALLENGE TO THE ACTION OF A PUBLIC BOARD WHICH IS ALLEGED TO BE ACTING IN EXCESS OF ITS STATUTORY AUTHORITY AND WHICH ACTION EITHER INCREASES THE TAX BURDEN OR WASTES PUBLIC MONEY?

Or, alternatively,

DOES THE ACTION OF A PUBLIC BOARD WHICH EITHER INCREASES TAXES OR WASTES PUBLIC MONEY RISE TO THE LEVEL OF A CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUE WHEN IT IS ASSERTED THAT THE PUBLIC BOARD EXCEEDED ITS AUTHORITY GRANTED BY THE LEGISLATURE?

The District Court also held that every settlement of an eminent domain case is a "purchase", and that every purchase by a school board is subject to:

"section 235.054(1)(b), Florida Statutes, which requires: Prior to acquisition of the property, the board shall [if the purchase price exceeds \$500,000] obtain at least two appraisals by appraisers approved pursuant to s. 253,025. If the agreed purchase price exceeds the average appraised value, the board is required to approve the purchase by an extraordinary vote."

3

The quoted language was created in 1995, after the trial court proceedings. The original statute was intended by the Legislature as an optional or alternative method of purchasing property. (Appendix - 14, 15).

ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

DOES RESPONDENT HAVE STANDING IN THE ABSENCE OF SPECIAL INJURY?

- A. SHOULD THIS COURT RECONSIDER ITS DECISION IN FORNES?
- B. [CERTIFIED QUESTION: IRRESPECTIVE OF FORNES,] DOES THE "UNIQUENESS OF THE PARTICULAR CASE" STANDARD PERMIT A TAXPAYER CHALLENGE TO THE ACTION OF A PUBLIC BOARD WHICH IS ALLEGED TO BE ACTING IN EXCESS OF ITS STATUTORY AUTHORITY AND WHICH ACTION EITHER INCREASES THE TAX BURDEN OR WASTES PUBLIC MONEY?
- C. [ALTERNATIVE CERTIFIED QUESTION: IRRESPECTIVE OF *FORNES*,] DOES THE ACTION OF A PUBLIC BOARD WHICH EITHER INCREASES TAXES OR WASTES PUBLIC MONEY RISE TO THE LEVEL OF A CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUE WHEN IT IS ASSERTED THAT THE PUBLIC BOARD EXCEEDED ITS AUTHORITY GRANTED BY THE LEGISLATURE?

II.

IS EVERY SETTLEMENT IN EMINENT DOMAIN A PURCHASE OF LAND RATHER THAN A TARING?

III.

IS A SETTLEMENT OF EMINENT DOMAIN PROCEEDINGS GOVERNED EXCLUSIVELY BY THE STANDARDS APPLICABLE TO VOLUNTARY PURCHASES OF LAND?

A. WAS FLA. STAT. 235.054 (1984 TO 1994) AN OPTIONAL METHOD OF PURCHASING LAND?

B. MAY A SCHOOL BOARD BE COMPELLED, IN MANDAMUS, TO OBEY A 1995 STATUTE AS TO A 1994 ACTION?

MAY MANDAMUS BE UTILIZED AS A MEANS OF COLLATERAL ATTACK ON AN UNAPPEALED CONDEMNATION JUDGMENT, WHERE THE CONDEMNEE IS NOT JOINED?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The argument is presented in the order necessary for adjudication. If Clayton is incorrect on any point, then his claim must fail entirely, irrespective of any following point.

Argument begins with the District Court's invitation to this Court to reconsider *Forms*. This Court should reaffirm the principles of *Fornes* as a sensible distinction between different species of "public rights". Where alleged violation of legal duty is nonconstitutional, public officers are charged with enforcing public rights. Citizens without special injury have no standing. If an activist judiciary is to adjudicate every species of "public right" at the instance of any uninjured citizen, the effect on governments and the courts of dealing with multiple, often conflicting, citizens' claims will be crippling.

The Court should also resist the attempts to distinguish *Forms* in the alternate certified questions. First, the suggested grant of standing to an uninjured citizen under "unique circumstances of the case" offers a standardless exception to *Fornes*.

The alternative question, apart from commentary, asks whether an act allegedly unauthorized by statute is *ipso facto* an alleged constitutional violation. The answer is that it is an alleged statutory violation.

On the merits, the District Court opinion does serious damage to the orderly mediation and settlement of condemnation cases. It expressly affects the constitutional class of school board members. The Court may address the merits in any event, but in this case it has an independent jurisdictional basis to do so apart from the certified questions.

On the merits, the District Court erred in three respects.

First, the court erred in holding that mediated condemnation settlements are always "purchases".

Second, the court erred in holding that Fla, Stat. 235.054 is the sole authority for school land purchases. If that were true, then school boards had no power to purchase property prior to 1985. In that year, Fla. Stat. 235.054 and its city and county counterparts were created by a single bill as exceptions to the Public Records Law. These exceptions allow governments the option to keep purchase documents confidential, if certain procedures are followed. The District Court construed the statute as mandatory for all purchases. That construction either violates the "single subject" rule for legislation, or depends on a text not yet adopted when the Board acted.

Finally, the District Court ignored the absence from these proceedings of the condemnee, and the finality of the Final Judgment in condemnation. Clayton misconceived the nature of mandamus when he attempted to use a writ against the Board as a means of collaterally attacking the condemnation proceedings. Where that judgment was unappealed, and more than a year has passed under Rule 1.540, there is no clear legal duty of the Board to "untake" Site "S" and unbuild the school.

8

ARGUMENT

I.

RESPONDENT HAS NO STANDING IN THE ABSENCE OF SPECIAL INJURY.

A. THIS COURT SHOULD REAFFIRM ITS DECISION IN FORNES.

The District Court in the opinion below "respectfully request[s] that [this Court] reconsider the Fornes decision."

In North *Broward Hospital District* v. *Fornes*, 476 So.2d 154 (Fla. 1985), the Court reaffirmed the principle that a mere increase in taxes does not confer standing upon a taxpayer party to challenge a governmental expenditure, in the absence of some proof of special injury not suffered by taxpayers generally. This principle is sometimes known as the "Rickman Rule", after the decision in *Rickman* v. *Whitehurst*, 73 Fla. 152, 74 So. 205 (1917).

Florida law on this point is parallel to Federal decisions holding standing to be an element of subject matter jurisdiction. In *U.S. v. Richardson*, 418 U.S. 166, 94 S.Ct. 2940, 41 L.Ed. 2d 678 (1974), a citizen attempted to compel disclosure of CIA expenditures which he alleged were being kept secret in violation of law. The Court rejected his claim even though it acknowledged [at 179] that "if respondent is not permitted to litigate this issue, no one can do so." *Cf.* the District Court's protest that "this restriction truly creates a standing rule that is an anomaly: if everyone is injured, no one can sue."

The *Court* in *Richardson* explained the reason for restricting citizen standing in the absence of special injury:

Any other conclusion would mean that the Founding Fathers intended to set up something in the nature of an Athenian democracy or a New England town meeting to oversee the conduct of the National Government by means of lawsuits in federal courts.

This Court has previously explained why it would be improper for an activist judiciary to hear citizens with no special injury, In *Department of Revenue v. Markham, 396* So.2d 1120 (Fla. 1981), the Court set forth the reasons behind the standing rules [at 1122, quoting with approval from *Paul v. Blake, 376* So.2d 256 (Fla. 3d D.C.A. 1979)]:

"This rule is based on the sound policy ground that without a special injury standing requirement, the courts would in all likelihood be faced with a great number of frivolous lawsuits filed by disgruntled taxpayers who, along with much of the taxpaying public these days, are not entirely pleased with certain of the taxing and spending decisions of their elective representatives. It is felt that absent some showing of special injury as thus defined, the taxpayer's remedy should be at the polls and not in the courts.

"Moreover, it has long been recognized that in a representative democracy the public's representatives in government should ordinarily be relied on to institute the appropriate legal proceedings to prevent the unlawful exercise of the state or county's taxing and spending power."

There is a number of public representatives who have power to address the faults alleged by Clayton, The Governor is chief magistrate of the State of Florida, and is charged under Article IV, §1 of the Constitution to "take care that the laws be faithfully executed." As such, he has the power to enforce public rights.'

Under Article IV, §2 of the Constitution, the Governor is further given the express power to

^{&#}x27;In *State v. Crawford*, 28 Fla. 441, 10 So. 118 (1891), the Governor sued the Secretary of State in mandamus to compel the affixing of the state seal to a commission; this Court held that as chief magistrate of the state responsible for enforcement of its laws, he had standing to enforce a "public right".

"initiate judicial proceedings in the name of the state against any . . . county or municipal officer to enforce compliance with any duty or to restrain any unauthorized act."

Completing the relevant list of the Governor's powers to address unauthorized acts is the power, under Article IV \$7 of the Constitution, to suspend *my* county officer *inter alia* for malfeasance, misfeasance or neglect of duty.

The Attorney General is the chief legal officer of Florida under Article IV, \$4 of the Constitution. As such, he has the exclusive power to bring, authorize, or refuse to authorize, quo warranto proceedings against public bodies corporate alleged to be acting without authority. In *State ex rel. Shevin v. City of Sanibel*, 3 18 So.2d 177 (Fla. 2d D.C.A. 1975), the court stated it thus in requiring that a challenge to municipal authority be dismissed where the Attorney General had withdrawn his earlier consent:

at common law the overwhelming weight of authority was that the Attorney General has absolute control of such a quo warranto proceeding, the rationale being that the state, not the relator, is the real party in interest.

See *also Butterworth* v. *Espey*, 523 So.2d 1278 (Fla. 2d.D.C.A. 1988), holding that where the Attorney General maintains control over a quo warranto action, there is no improper delegation of his power.

Under the provisions of Article III, §2 of the Constitution, the Legislature is required to appoint an auditor to audit public records. Under the provisions of Fla. Stat. §11.45(3)(a), the Auditor General is required to audit district school boards annually. Under subsection (3)(c), the Auditor General must make special mention of any violation of the laws, or any illegal or improper expenditures.

As the *Court* in *U.S. v. Richardson*, *supra*, noted in denying standing (418 US at 177):

11

it is clear that Congress has plenary power to exact any reporting and accounting it considers appropriate in the public interest. It is therefore open to serious question whether the Framers of the Constitution ever imagined that general directives to the Congress or the Executive would be subject to enforcement by an individual citizen.

The only recognized exception to the rule requiring special injury for citizen standing is a situation where the act or expenditure is alleged to violate the constitution. *Department of Administration* v. *Horne*, 269 So.2d 659 (Fla.1972). A mere allegation of a statutory violation will not suffice.

Here again Florida law closely parallels Federal principles. *Frothingham v. Mellon*, 262 U.S. 447 (1923) is the bedrock decision holding that a taxpayer may not sue merely because of the burden of taxation to support an unauthorized expenditure. But in *Flast v. Cohen*, 392 US. 83 (1968) the Court distinguished *Frothingham* and held that a taxpayer had standing to sue if the expenditure directly violated the Establishment Clause of the Constitution.

As the Court explained in U.S. v. Richardson, supra (418 US at 179), the remedy of a citizen with neither constitutional complaint nor special injury is political:

Lack of standing within the narrow confines of Art. III jurisdiction does not impair the right to assert his views in the political forum or at the polls. Slow, cumbersome, and unresponsive though the traditional electoral process may be thought at times, our system provides for changing members of the political branches when dissatisfied citizens convince a sufficient number of their fellow electors that elected representatives are delinquent in performing duties committed to them.

Judicial activism in the absence of a special injury risks intrusion on the coordinate branches of government, and on the prerogatives of other elected officers charged with protecting public rights. It assumes, wrongly, that the sovereign people through their elected representatives are unequal to the task.

In contrast, where the injury is constitutional, electoral power does not always avail, especially in cases involving minority rights where the political majority may be unmotivated to act. It is entirely proper for the judiciary, consistent with the principle of *Flast* and *Home*, to protect fundamental rights without showing of special injury. But Clayton has no standing under those principles. Accordingly, *Fornes* should be reaffirmed

B. [CERTIFIED QUESTION: IRRESPECTIVE OF

FORNES,] DOES THE "UNIQUENESS OF THE PARTICULAR CASE" STANDARD PERMIT A TAXPAYER CHALLENGE TO THE ACTION OF A PUBLIC BOARD WHICH IS ALLEGED TO BE ACTING IN EXCESS OF ITS STATUTORY AUTHORITY AND WHICH ACTION EITHER INCREASES THE TAX BURDEN OR WASTES PUBLIC MONEY?

The District Court has discerned an exception to *Fornes* which it has labelled "uniqueness of the particular case", based on this Court's decision in *Clayton v. Board of Regents*, 635 So.2d 937 (Fla.1994).

In that case, this Court held that under "unique circumstances" not reported in the decision, Clayton had standing to challenge the appointment of a university president.

Clayton v. Board of Regents appears similar on its facts to Ex parte Le vitt, 302 U.S. 633 (1937). In that case, Le vitt challenged the validity of the commission of a Supreme Court justice on the ground that, as a former senator, the justice had voted for an increase in the salary of justices. The allegations, if true, set forth a violation of Article I, §6 of the Federal Constitution; but the Court found that Le vitt had no special injury and hence, no standing.

Flast v. Cohen is consistent with Le vitt. In Flast, the Court expressed the need for a sufficiently adverse interest that would sharpen an ordinarily undifferentiated taxpayer's complaint into a particularized and justiciable controversy. The Court required not only an

"unauthorized" expenditure, but also an expenditure which expressly violated a prohibition in the Constitution, the Establishment clause, in which Flast had a specific protectable and personalized interest. Le vitt could not make such a showing when he asked to bar the appointment of a justice.

It appears, on the face of it, that *Clayton v. Board of Regents* is more like *Le vitt*. But if the District Court has correctly perceived an exception to *Forms* born of unique circumstances, then it necessarily follows that this Court is being called on, by the certified question, to develop and announce the guidelines for such an exception. It is here that the task becomes oxymoronic: If the circumstances of a case are unique, they are by definition incapable of repetition, and no precedent is capable of describing them.

The certified question invites the Court onto a slippery slope in which a standardless exception would swallow the *Fornes* rule whenever an activist court so chose. The invitation should be rejected.

C. [ALTERNATIVE CERTIFIED QUESTION: IRRESPECTIVE OF *FORNES*,] DOES THE ACTION OF A PUBLIC BOARD WHICH EITHER INCREASES TAXES OR WASTES PUBLIC MONEY RISE TO THE LEVEL OF A CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUE WHEN IT IS ASSERTED THAT THE PUBLIC BOARD EXCEEDED ITS AUTHORITY GRANTED BY THE LEGISLATURE?

The phrasing of this question by the District Court begs a larger question. What is the source of authority for school boards?

School Boards are creatures of the Constitution, not the Legislature. Article IX, §4 prescribes elected school boards, and gives to each district school board the power to "operate, control and supervise all free public schools within the school district." The Legislature has declared in Fla, Stat. 230.03(2) that in accordance with the Constitution, district school boards

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