In The Supreme Court Of Florida

CASE NO. 87,403

**FILED**

CLERK

MAY 8 1996

**THE SCHOOL BOARD OF VOLUSIA COUNTY,**  
Petitioner

FILED IN SUPREME COURT

Deputy Clerk

vs.

**JAMES B. CLAYTON**  
Respondent

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL  
FIFTH DISTRICT OF FLORIDA  
ON CERTIFIED QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE

**RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF**

✓ Daniel R. Vaughen, P.A.  
333 E. New York Avenue  
P.O. Box 364  
DeLand, FL 32721-0364  
Fla. Bar No. 083486  
(904) 738-7464

~~Philip L. Partridge, Esq.  
Richard S. Graham, Esq.  
Landis, Graham, French,  
Husfeld, Sherman & Ford, P.A.  
P.O. Box 48  
DeLand, FL 32721-0048  
Florida Bar No. 0880108

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

Finally, respondent's amended petition for mandamus is not a collateral attack upon the final judgment entered in the eminent domain proceeding.

I.  
**RESPONDENT HAS STANDING**

A  
**THIS COURT SHOULD RECONSIDER  
ITS DECISION IN *FORNES***

B  
**“UNIQUENESS OF THE PARTICULAR CASE STANDARD”**

Perhaps encouraged by this court’s opinion in State *ex rel. Clayton v. Board of Regents*, 635 So.2d 937 (Fla. 1994) (granting this respondent standing in a mandamus action based upon the unique circumstances of that particular case), the Fifth District Court of Appeal now urges this Honorable Court to reconsider its opinion in *North Broward Hospital District v. Fornes*, 476 So.2d 154 (Fla. 1985), saying:

We do not believe it inappropriate, . . . after a reasonable period of time and after observing the effect of a particular decision on the litigants that come before us, to request that the supreme court review a decision that is so often challenged before our court.

The Fifth District Court then proceeded to review the cases leading up to the opinion in *Fornes*, suggesting that *Fornes* may indeed have been erroneously decided.

This section of the respondent’s Answer Brief is intended to respond to both sections 1 A and B of the Petitioner’s Initial Brief.

Initially, respondent would respectfully suggest that a reconsideration of *Fornes* might not be required. This court has recently recognized standing in this very same respondent in the *Board of Regents* case cited above, notwithstanding the admitted absence there of any “special injury.” The same arguments on standing presented here were also presented in the briefs in the *Board of Regents* case.

One alternative to a reconsideration of **Fornes**, therefore, might be to clarify the “unique circumstances of the case” standard by noting that **Board of Regents** and the instant case were both mandamus actions, seeking a ministerial compliance with clear legal duties, and requiring the exercise of no discretion or judgment on the part of their respondents. **Fornes**, on the other hand, involved a request for injunctive relief, and thus arguably encroached further upon the judgment or discretion of the responding parties. Standing rules might plausibly differ for such different forms of relief.

Mandamus is one of the few, if not the last, avenues for a citizen to compel his or her government to perform a ministerial duty which is required by law. Where the object is the enforcement of a public duty, the State of Florida has permitted its citizens access to the courts by way of mandamus, from 1879 through 1994, without alleging a special injury or an argument on constitutionality. **State of Florida ex rel. Clayton v. Board of Regents**, 635 So.2d 937 (Fla. 1994); **North Palm Beach v. Cochran**, 112 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1959); **State ex rel. Ayres v. Gray**, 69 So. 2d 187 (Fla. 1953); **State ex rel. Stewart v. Mayo**, 35 So.2d 13 (Fla. 1948); **Florida Industrial Commission v. State ex rel. Orange State Oil Co.**, 21 So.2d 599 (Fla. 1945); **Kneeland v. Tampa Northern R. Co.**, 116 So. 48 (Fla. 1927); **Florida Cent. & P.R. Co. v. State ex rel. Mayor, etc. of Town of Tavares**, 31 Fla. 482, 13 So. 103 (Fla. 1893); **State v. Crawford**, 28 Fla. 441, 10 So. 118 (Fla. 1891); **McConihe v State**, 17 Fla. 238 (Fla. 1879); **Krantzler v Bd. of County Com'rs of Dade Cty.**, 354 So.2d 126 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1978).

Petitioner's authorities cited in its Answer Brief before the Fifth

District Court of Appeal were either suits for injunction or for declaratory relief, except for *Brown v. Firestone*, 382 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1980). **Firestone**, however, in the absence of a contest on the issue, found standing. However, in dicta, the court wrote that “this Court has long been committed to the rule that a party does not possess standing to sue unless he or she can demonstrate a direct and articulable stake in the outcome of a controversy” *Firestone* at 662.

**Firestone** cites *Department of Administration v. Home*, 269 So.2d 659 (Fla. 1972), thus reiterating its concern for potential abuse of available judicial remedies by legislators dissatisfied with the outcome of a particular legislative session. Interestingly, however, **Firestone** expressly authorized mandamus by a citizen taxpayer to challenge a gubernatorial veto even when the gubernatorial veto was of an unconstitutional qualification or restriction in a general appropriations bill. There could logically be in such an action no special injury or constitutional challenge.

If this Honorable Court is inclined to respond to the District Court’s request to reconsider **Fornes**, however, (a request in which this respondent would respectfully join), respondent would urge a review of the broader standing issue, rather than simply another review of the “pre-**Rickman**” [*Rickman v. Whitehurst*, 73 Fla. 152, 74 So. 205 (19 17)] and “post-**Rickman**” standing decisions.

More is at stake, here, than a single decision or a series of decisions on standing. What is at stake, it is submitted, is the very integrity of the judicial process, the proper functioning of our tripartite system of government, and the proper scope of citizen access to that system of



government. This case thus presents this court with nothing less than a unique opportunity to examine, and better define, our system of participatory democracy.

Petitioner asserts that the decision in *Fornes* is “parallel to Federal decisions holding standing to be an element of subject matter jurisdiction” citing *U.S. v. Richardson*, 418 U.S. 166, 94 S.Ct. 2940, 41 L.Ed.2d 678 (1974).

Professors Charles Alan Wright, of the University of Texas, Arthur R. Miller, of Harvard University, and Edward H. Cooper, of the University of Michigan, have written a multi-volume text entitled **Federal Practice and Procedure** (West Publishing Company, 1984). Volume Thirteen of that work, beginning with Section 3531, contains an exhaustive treatment of the standing issue in federal courts, from much of which the following discussion derives, and should be attributed.

After providing a two-page list of law review articles and treatises on standing in its first footnote, the article begins with this statement:

Standing doctrines are employed to refuse to determine the merits of a legal claim, on the ground that even though the claim may be correct the litigant advancing it is not properly situated to be entitled to its judicial determination.

Thus, standing may be an appropriate device for defining the relationship between the courts on the one side and legislative or executive institutions on the other, After all, a judicial determination is essentially undemocratic, and should, for that reason, be used sparingly. On the other hand, litigation “is itself a form of participatory government, and. . . there must be at least one establishment institution prepared to listen to the

grievances of the disaffected, [footnote omitted]. . . . Political processes are inadequate even to protect the broadly political and general interests of all citizens, because of undue responsiveness to small group pressure and self-interest.” 13 **Federal Practice and Procedure** (West Publishing Company, 1984), § 3531.3, at pages 412 and 415.

Standing may also be used to avoid unnecessary judicial decisions, thus conserving judicial resources (curbing a multiplicity of suits), and coincidentally limiting the number of “wrong” decisions that may adversely (and unintentionally) impact upon other important issues.

Standing rules may also enhance the adversary system by providing litigants who will be tangibly affected by the decision. That intuitive judgment is answered, of course, by the equally intuitive response that plaintiffs of principle might well be more effective advocates than traditional parties. A more practical approach might be for courts to simply evaluate the litigating capacities of a particular plaintiff and his attorneys; even seeking other plaintiffs or attorneys to make up for any perceived deficiencies, if necessary, appropriate, or desirable.

Requiring defined, focused, and specific fact situations may also help illuminate otherwise abstract issues and help establish the limits of a given decision for future cases.

How much more refreshing and helpful it would be if courts were to address standing issues in those terms, rather than in impractical formulas or meaningless phrases. Gone would be disingenuous or anomalous requirements that something must first be demonstrated that can never (or almost never) be demonstrated [a “special injury” greater than an increase

in taxes, ***Godheim v. City of Tampa*, 426 So.2d 1084, at 1090 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983)**(dissenting opinion of Judge Lehan) or “if everyone is injured, no one can sue” (majority opinion below in the instant case)].

Instead, all standing issues would simply turn upon the unique facts of each particular case. This plaintiff lacks standing because the case is moot; that plaintiff lacks standing because the case is not yet ripe for decision; this plaintiff, because the case is more properly decided in a political forum: that plaintiff, because the case is too abstract or nonspecific to be capable of an adequate development of the facts essential to its determination.

The lack of a clearly articulated, easily understood and widely accepted theory of standing actually defeats most of the benefits a standing rule is designed to achieve. Litigants use standing as another threshold tactic for delay. Courts use standing as a means to avoid unpopular decisions, or, worse, to disguise their decisions on the merits. Arbitrary and unarticulated standing preferences defeat rights that really deserve judicial protection.

Standing determinations should instead begin with the presumption that standing will be denied only for a good, articulated, and persuasive reason. The opinion should clearly, honestly, and directly state that reason. If the complaint would state a cause of action had it been brought against a private party, there is no good reason to deny standing. After that, the court should simply state why it believes this particular case should not be heard and decided: e.g., it needs more factual information for decision than these litigants are likely to provide; that decision, because of the broad public policy issues involved in its determination, is more **appropriately** made by

the legislative, than the judicial branch of government.

Petitioner suggests that this court continue to follow the federal standing rules.

It was in ***Department of Administration v. Home*, 269 So.2d 659 (Fla. 1972)**, that the federal standing rules were first incorporated into a Florida decision. The then recent U.S. Supreme Court decision in ***Flast v. Cohen*, 392 U.S. 83, 88 S.Ct. 1942, 20 L.Ed.2d 947 (1968)**, provided a convenient means to resolve both a standing problem and a political problem. At the time the decision was announced, it was already moot. The course of subsequent federal decisions on standing, however, clearly should not be used as a model for Florida standing issues.

Federal standing requirements are based upon perceived limitations on judicial authority imposed by Article III of the U.S. Constitution (authorizing the federal courts to hear “cases” or “controversies”), and “prudential” limitations, or limitations based upon the exercise of prudent judicial self-restraint. Professors Wright, Miller, and Cooper, from their extensive review of the federal standing decisions in ***Federal Practice and Procedure***, cited above, report “all of these concepts, both constitutional and prudential, are slippery.” If, as petitioner suggests, the “uniqueness of the particular case” standard is a “slippery slope” [IB, p. 14], his alternative, the federal standing rules, is no better.

More importantly, there is a fundamental difference between the U.S. Constitution and the Florida Constitution on the issue of access to the courts. Where the federal constitution has been interpreted to limit access to “cases” or “controversies,” Article I of the Florida Constitution, entitled

“Declaration of Rights”, provides, to the contrary, in its Section 2 1: “The courts shall be open to every *person for redress of any injury*.. . .(emphasis supplied) .”

There are, accordingly, two cogent reasons to avoid importing federal standing rules into Florida jurisprudence: a) the federal rules are “slippery”; and b) they are based upon a federal constitution that has been construed to limit private access to the courts, in contrast to the Florida Constitution which expressly *guarantees* private access to the courts.

How then, should the court interpret its standing decisions, assuming a reconsideration of **Fornes** is appropriate, and assuming it is not willing to accept the innovative approach suggested above? Happily, a reconciling interpretation of **Rickman v. Whitehurst, 73** Fla. 152, 74 So. 205 (1917), has already been made by Judge Lehan in his highly persuasive dissenting opinion in **Godheim, supra.**, at page 1090, et seq. Acceptance of that interpretation will not only reconcile the past decisions of this court, but will confer standing upon Clayton in the instant case, and restore some accountability to public agencies and officers, such as the local school board.

WHEREFORE, this Honorable Court is respectfully requested to distinguish **Fames**, or reconsider **Fornes**, or find the amended petition alleges a constitutional challenge, or establish a clearer and more practical standing rule, and, upon the authority of **Board of Regents**, and the long line of mandamus cases, and accord respondent standing in this case.

**DOES THE ACTION OF A PUBLIC BOARD WHICH EITHER INCREASES TAXES OR WASTES PUBLIC MONEY RISE TO THE LEVEL OF A CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUE WHEN IT IS ASSERTED THAT THE PUBLIC BOARD EXCEEDED ITS AUTHORITY GRANTED BY THE LEGISLATURE?**

Petitioner seeks to avoid the force of the certified question by quibbling about its language.

Surely petitioner does not intend to suggest that the absence of the qualification “not inconsistent with general law” from Article IX, § 4, **Fla. Const.** (school boards), that is found in Article VIII, § 1(g)(charter governments) and (in words of similar import) in §2(b)(municipalities), implies that school boards are not subject to the restrictions of general law.

If petitioner does not intend to suggest that school boards are immune from general law, then petitioner must address the cited legislative restrictions upon its authority to acquire land. Whether a school board’s authority to acquire land is “granted” or “limited” by the legislature, then, is mere quibbling.

Perhaps petitioner intends to suggest that because there is no such qualifying language in the cited constitutional provision pertaining to school boards, an alleged violation of general law cannot rise to the level of a constitutional violation, If that were petitioner’s argument, it fails to account for § 1 of Article IX, **Fla. Const.** which provides:

Adequate provision shall be made *by law* for a uniform system of free public schools and for the establishment, maintenance and operation of institutions of higher learning and other public education programs that the needs of the people may require. (emphasis supplied).

Such an argument also fails to account for §6 of Article IX, **Fla. Const.** which provides:

The income derived from the state school fund shall, and the principal of the fund may, be appropriated, but only to the support and maintenance of free public schools.

The allegations of respondent's petition for mandamus can legitimately, therefore, be considered allegations of violations of general law that rise to constitutional levels, considering only the Article cited by the petitioner. Another pertinent constitutional article will be discussed *infra*.

Petitioner next argues that "it is not apparent"\* that the challenged settlement will increase taxes or waste public money. That, of course, is not the issue at this point in a standing determination. It was *alleged* that the challenged settlement would increase taxes or waste public money. For the purposes of determining standing, that allegation must be taken as true. Petitioner's *de hors* the record assertions regarding the merits of its decision, or its argument based upon its discretion to act, are accordingly both beside the point and premature. The order under review in the instant case is the dismissal of the Amended Petition for Writ of Mandamus for lack of standing and for failure to state a cause of action, before any hearing on the merits of the amended petition.

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